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THE PEOPLE AT THE SUIT OF THE DIRECTOR
OF PUBLIC PROSECUTIONS

MICHAEL ANTHONY McKEE, ANTHONY SLOAN,
PAUL PATRICK MAGEE AND ANGELO FUSCO

JUDGMENT delivered the ~  day of #:( (.o, 1983 by "/t i cccu

Each of the applicants has applied to this Court for leave to
appeal from his convictions on a number of counts by the Special
Criminal Court. The first and second named applicants were convicted
by the Court on the 23rd December, 1981, on a number of counts arising
out. of certain incidents alleged to have taken place in a prison at
Crumlin Road, Belfast, Northern Ireland and outside the prison on the
10th June, 1981.  The third, fourth, fifth and sixth-named applicants
were also convicted by the Court on the 25th February, 1982 on counts
arising out of those incidents.

Before hearing submissions in respect of these applications, the

Court indicated that it proposed to reserve its judgment in respect of the

applications of the first and second-named applicants until after the
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conclusion of submissions in respect of the applications of the third,

fourth, fifth and sixth-named applicants. At the conclusion of the

submigsions on behalf of the third, fourth, fifth and sixth-named
applicants, the Court amnounced that it would deliver its judgment in
respect of all the applications at a later date.

The counts with which each of the applicants was charged in the
indictments related to the escape of a numder of pergons. some of them
armed, from the prison at Crumlin Road on the 10th June, 1981, and an
exchange of gun-fire with members of the Royal Ulaster Constabulary which
took place outaide the prison immediately after the esacape.

Each of the applicants was arrested by the Gardai at various places
in the State between the 22nd September, 1981, and the 18th Jenuary, 1982
and detained in custody in purported exercise of the powers conferred by
3. 30 of the Offences Against the State Act, 1939, The first-named
applicant was charged before the Special Criminal Court on the 23rd
September, 1981, with having escaped from lawful cugtody in Northern
Ireland on tho lOth June, 1981, contrary to section 3 of the Criminsal
Lav (Jurisdiction) Act; 1976 (hereinafter reférred to as "the Act").

Five further charges were preferred against him on the 30th November, 1981

of attempted murder, shooting with intent to prevent lawful apprehension,
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production and use of fire—arms in the course of an escape and possession

of fire-arms with intent to endanger life all contrary to s. 2 of the

Act of 1976. The second-named applicant was charged before that Court

on the 10th October, 1981 and 30th November, 1981 with similar offences.

The third-named applicant was charged on the 7th January, 1982 before that

Court with similar offences with the exception of attempted murder; and
similar charges, again with the exception of attempted murder, were
preferred against the fourth, fifth and sixth-named applicants before that
Court on the 7th January, 1982, the 4th January, 198é, the 20th January, 198
the 9th December, 198l and 13th January, 1982 respectively.

None of the offences with which the avplicants were charged was a
scheduled offence within the meaning of the Offences Againgt the State Act,
1939, The appropriate certificates under s. 47 (2) of that Act giving the
Special Criminal Court jurisdiction to try the charges were issued by the
respondent or, in one case, a professional officer of his department to
whom he had delegated his functions in the case of the first-named
applicant on the 23rd September, 1981 and the 28th Oetober; 1982, in the
;aae of the second-named applicant on the 10th and 28th October, 1981; in

the case of the third-named applicant on the 6th Jenuary, 1982, in the

case of the fourth-named applicant on the 4th January, 1982, in the case of
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the fifth-named applicant on the 19th January, 1982 and in the case of the
sixth-named applicant on the 3rd December, 1981 and 6th January, 1982,

As each of the charges was in respect of offencea alleged to hawve been
committed under the Act of 1976, it is necessary to refer to the provisions
of that Act.

Section 2 (1) of the Act provides that:-

"Where a person does in Northern Ireland an act that if done in the

State, would constitute an offence specified in the Schedule, he

shall be guilty of an offence and he shall be liable on conviction

on indictment to the penalty to which he would have been liable

if he had done the act in the State™.

The offences set out in the achedule to the Act include the following

under the heading "fire-arms":-

"10. Any offence under section 15 of the Firearms Act, 1925
(possessing fire-arm or emmunition with intent to endanger life
or cause serious injury to property).

11. Any offence under the following provisions of the Firearms

Act, 1964

(a) Section 26 (possession of fire-arm vhile taking vehicle

without authority):
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(b) Section 27 (use of fire—-arms to resist arrest or aid
escape);
(c) Section 27 A (possession of fire-arm or ammunition
in suspicious circumstances);
(8) Section 27 B (ecarrying fire-arm with criminal intent)."
Section 3 (1) (a) of the Act provides that:-
"A person who, in Northern Ireland, is charged with or convicted of:-
(1) An offence under the law of Northern Ireland consisting
of acts (whether done in the State or in Northern Ireland)
that also constitutes an offence specified in the schedule
or an offence under gection 2, or
(i1) An offence under the law of Northern Ireland corresponding
to this section,
and vho escapes from any lawful custody in which he is
held in Northern Ireland shall be guilty of an offence".
Section 14 (1) of the Act provides that:-
"Subject to the provisions of this section, a person charged with an

offence under section 2 or 3 may opt to go in custody to Northern

Ireland for trial there instead of being tried in the State for the

said offence and the person shall be informed of his rightsunder
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this section -
(a) by the District Court, on his first appearance before that
Court in connection with the charge, and

(b) by the Court by which he is to be tried for the offence,

before entry of his plea on arraignment.”

Section 20 (2) of the Act provides tliat where a person is charged
with an offence under s. 2 or s. 3, no further proceedings in the matter
except such remand or remands in custody or on bail as the court may
think necessary shall be taken except by or with the consent of the
Attorney General. The Attorney General gave his consent to further
proceedings beiny taken against the first and second-named applicants on
the 16th November, 1981, and against the third, fourth, fifth and sixth-
named applicants on the 18th January, 1982.

The first and second-named applicanis were arrgigned on the 10th
December, 1981 before the Special Criminal Couxt. The third, fourth
fifth and sixth-named applicants were arraigned before the Special
Criminal Court (differently constituted) on the 16th February 1982. The

transcripts disclose that, in the case of each applicant, he was

informed by the President of the Court of his rights under section 14(1)

and in each case did not opt to go in custody to Northern Ireland for !
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trial there instead of being tried in this Jurisdiction. Each of the
applicants plcaded not guilty to each of the counts in the indictment,

The first and second-named applicants were found guilty of the counts
in the indictment charging them with escape from lawful custody, shooting
with intent to prevent lawful apprehension, production and use of fire-
arms in the course of an escape and possession of fire-arms with intent to
endanger life, They were found not guilty of the charge of attempted
murder, The third, fourth, fifth and sixth-named applicants were
convicted of the counts in the indictment charging them with escape from
lawful custody, shooting with intent to prevent lawful apprehension,
production and use of fire-arms in the course of an escape and possession
of {ire-arm3 with intent to endanger life,

Bach of the applicants was separately represented at the two trials
before the Special Criminal Court and was separately represented on the
heering of the applications by this Court. Separate notices of
application for leave to appeal were served in respect of each applicant;
but in a number of respects the grounds of appeal were the same in all
cases, It is mocordingly proposed in this judgment to consider

collectively such of the grounds of appeal as are identical in the case of

all the applicants.
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Production and use of fire-arms "within the prison"

It was submitted on behalf of all the applicants other than the
first-named &pplicant that-there was either no evidence, or no sufficient
evidence, to justify the findings by the Courts of Trial that the
aoplicants produced or used fire-arms

"within the prison at Crumlin Road, Belfast .... in the course

of (their) escape from the custody of John Seuple the person

in charge of the said Prison.®
A number of prison officers gave evidence at the two trials as to the
sequence of events inside the prison on the afternoon of June 10t%th, 1981,
In addition, evidence was given by members of the R.U.C. who exchanged
shots with some of those viho were escaping in the public road outside the
prison. It was clearly open to the Court of Trial in each instance to
reach the following conclusions of fact derivgd from the evidence, (For
convenience, the applicants are referred to by their surnames in this
part of the judgment).

At about 3 p.m. on that afternoon, a number of personé who were then
in custody in the prison, including Campbell, Ryan and llagee, were

escorted to the visiting area of the prison for the purpose of receiving

professional visits in the interview rooms there provided from their
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solicitors. vhile they were in the visiting area, lagee produced a
small hand gun, which appeared to one of the officers to be an automatic
weapon, and said to the officer: "that's as far as you're going, stay
where you f..... well are', Campbell also produced g small hand gun a%t
this stage, which seewmed to one of the officers to be a .22 automatic and
to another to be a Walther. Magee and Campbell then ordered or pushed
some of the officers into what was called a "holding-room" where they
were locked with the golicitors who had come to interview the prisoners.,
Magee then releused Sloan, Fusco and lMcKee from another holding-room,
Campbell), Ryan and two other prisoners then went into an office where two
of the prison officers were attending to various duties, Campbell held
the gun which he had produced to the head of one of the prison officers
and told him he was taking him as a hostage. He then pulled the alide of
the gun back so that it would be in the firing position. Campbell then
proceeded to pull this officex across the room. VWhen the officexr sought
to resist by hitting him with his baton, he was felled to the ground with
a blow struck from behind. A number of pcople then kicked him while he
was on the ground, two of them being identified as Ryan and Campbell,
Sloan and licKee then came into the room, pulled one of the officers away

from the telephone where he was endeavouring to call for assistance and put
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him into the holding-room.

During the course of these events, a number of the prisoners,
including Ryan and Fusco, removed various items of the officers equipment
such as tunics, batons and caps and donned or carried them, The party
then made its way across a courtyard to an area known as the "air-lock"
which separated the inner and outer gates of the prison. It was led by
Sloan who was dressed in civilian clothes. At the outer gate of the
air-lock, hé produced vhat appeared to the officer on duty to be a copper

disc of a type normally required to be produced by solicitors when making

profegsional visits to the prison. The officer, recognised him
as a prisoner and refused to open the gates, At that stage, however,

he felt somebody putting what seemed to him to be a gun to his back. He
turned around and saw that it was Ryan, who said something like: "don't
make a noise', llagee at this stage entered an office off the air-lock
area and smashed the windows of the door in. Campbell then follovied him
into the officefproduced vhat appeared to be a fire-arm and told the
officer in the office, who was about to activate the alarm, that "if he
touched the alarn, he was dead.™ Fusco was also seen at this stage by

one of the officers, breaking the glass in the office door with a baton he

was carrying. One of the officers in this area produced his baton and
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managed to strike three of the escaping prisoners, He was then told by
llagee, whom he described as carrying a Valther pistol, to get back or "he
would blow my head off". A1l the prisoners then made their way out
through the outer gate of the air-lock on to Crumlin Road, followed by one
of the officers. The group of escaping prisoners orossed the road and
entered a car park on the opposite side; and, as he was getting over the
wall of the car park, Campbell turned around and started to fire at the
pursuing prison officer,

Within a matter of seconds, a police car containing three members of
the R.U.C. which happened to be in the vicinity arrived at the scene,
whereupon shots were discharged at its occupants from the direction of the
car park by two persons, one of whom was dressed in a prison officexr's
unitora, ‘The persons who fired the shots were identified by the R.U.C.
members as Ryan and hicKee,

None of the applicants gave any evidence in relation to any of these
matters,

It vwgs submitted in support of this ground that the evidence could
not have satisfied the court of trial beyond reasonable doubt that the
guns produced by certain of the dapplicants within the prison were "fire-

arms" within the meaning of the relevant statutes as distinct from toy or
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imitation weapons. The Court is satisfied that, having regard to the
descriptions of the weapons given by the various prison officers, the
manner in which they were used by the applicants concerned and the
language used by the applicants towards the officers, there was ample
evidence which justified the Court of Trial in each instance in reaching
a conclusion beyond reasonable doubt that the weapons used were in fact
fire-arms and not toy oxr imitation weapons.

It was further submitted, in support of this ground, that, in the
case of Sloan, Fusco and hicKee, there was no evidence of their having at
any stage produced fire-arms within the prison.

The Court of Trial in each case came to the conclusion that the
escape was the result of a concerted plan to which each of the applicants
was a party; and that it was part of the plan that weapons introduced
into the prison should be used Yo coerce prison officers to permit the
escape and to prevent the apprehension of the applicants when they had
left the prison. The Court is satisfied that there was ample evidence
which justified the Court of Trial in each case in arriving at this
conclusion. The Court of Trial in each case having thus found, on
evidence which fully Jjustified the finding that the pfoduction and use of

the guns was part of a common desizn was entitled, in the view of the Court,

|
|
!
l
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to convict each of the applicants in respect Bf these counts, whether
or not they were shown to have actually produced or used the guns, Even
if the Court of Trial had come to the conclu;ion in the case of any of the
applicants, taking the view of the e¢vidence most favourable to him, that
he huad merely joined in the escape without having been involved in the
advance planning, the evidence would still, in the view of the Court,
have justified his conviction. From the moment each of the applicants
proceeded to assist in the execution of the pre-arranged plan, he also
became criminally responsible for the production and use of the weapons
which were an essential feature of that plan.

The Court rejects the submissions advanced in support of this ground
which therefore fails,

SHOORLNG wItH LNCeNP $0 RaSIST ARRESE

It was submitted that, in the case of the first, second and sixth-
named applicants, the evidence of identification given at the trials was
not such as could have satisfied the Court of Trial beyond reasonable
doubt that the applicants had in fact used fire-arms outside the prison
with intent to resist arrest. It was further submitted, on behalf of
the remaining applicants, that there was no evidence in their case of their

having actually used fire-arms outside the prison.



3

3 3 73

3 T3 ~—3 ~— 3 773

—3 —3 T3 T3 T3

"3

-3 T3 3 7T 13

3

"3

l47
- 14 -
In the case of thu first, second and sixth named applicants, the
Court of Trial in each casce expressly referred to the necessity to
exercise caution in respect of such evidence in accor@ance with the

principle laid down by the Supreme Court in People e

(]
D
D

-v- Casey (Mo, 2)((1963) I.R. 33). The Court is satisfied that, in each
case, the Court of Trial was fully entitled while bearing in mind the
gecessity of caution in such cases, to act upon theevidence o ldentification
in convicting the applicants concerned,

The Court is further satisfied that, the Court of Trial having come
to the conclusion in each case that certain of the applicants, being
persons concerned in the escape, had shot at one of the pursuing officers
and at one of the R.U.C. officers with the intention of resisting arrest,
vas further entitled to conclude that these shots were also fired as part
of the common design already referred to of effecting an escape from the
prison. It follows that, in the case of all of the applicants who are
shown to have assisted in the execution of that common design, the Court
vas entitled to convict each of the applicants in respect of the count of
shooting with intent to prevent lawful apprehension.

The Court rejects the submissions advanced in support of this ground

which therefore fails,
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It wus submitted on behalf of each of the applicants that the
respondent had failed to establish that the applicants had been in lawful
cuctody at the time of their escape from Crumlin Read Prison and that the
Court of Trial in each case had erred in holding that he had done so,

On each triual the prosecution acoepted that it was required to prove
the lawfulness of the custody of each of the accused on the occasion on
which each escaped from prison, It sought to do so in the following way.
In each case there was produced an authenticated copy of the Magistrate's
Court Order Book containing the order of the Magistrate (or assistant
siagistrate) returning the accused for trial to the Belfast Crown Court.
To prove the orders in each case the prosecution relied on the provisions
of 8. 7 of the Law of wvidence Amendment Act, 18%1 and submitted that the
authenticated copy of the order signed by the person who made it was
gurficient evidence by virtue of the 1851 4ct of the making of the order,
The prosecution then produced the Warrants of Committal in each case and
proved them by the oral evidence of the official who signed the warrant,

In each trial evidence was given by Mr. William McCollum Q.C. a
member of the Bar of Northern Ireland of 26 years' standing. In respect

of each of the uccused, he exprcssed the opinion that -the orders and
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warrants were valid orders and warrants under the laws of Horthern Ireland

and that under those laws such warrants justified the detention in Crumlin

Road Prison of each of the accused on the day of his escape. In each

trial his opinion wis challenged by counsel for ecach of the accused and it
was suggested to him that it was wrong for a number of different reasons.
He did not accept any of the matters put to h;m and maintained his
evidence that cach accused Was,according to the law of Northern Ireland/iu
lawful custody at the time of his oscape. The Court of Trial of each of
the accused held (a) that it should decide the lawfulness of the custody of

each of the accused according to the law of Northern Ireland, (b) that the

law of Northern Ireland was a question of fact to be ascertained by the

evidence of an expert witness and (¢) that Mr, McCollum was an expert
witness whose opinion on the law the court should accept. As no
evidence to contradict the opinion of My, wWeCollum was given in either
trial, the court on each trial concluded that the prosecution had
¢stablished beyond a reasonable doubt that each of the accused was in
lawful custody at the time of his escape.

This Court considers that the Courts of Trizl in all these cases

correctly approached the question of the lawfulness of the accused's

custody at the time of his escape, It was not for the Courts of Trial,
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just us it is not now for this court, to ascertain for itself what the
law in Northern Ireland is relating to the custody of prisoners who have
been returned for trial and who are in custody pending their trial, or to
consider for itsclf the legal effect of warrants issued for the custody of
such prisoners, These are matters which must be proved by an expert on
the law of Northern Ireland. In each trial the court accepted that

My, lcCollum was an expert witness and that the law of Northern Ireland
was ag stated by him. In the opinion of this court, the Courts of Trial
vere fully entitled to reach this conclusion and no satisfactory
arguments have been advanced to this court as to why Mr. McCollum should
not have been accepted as an expert witness.

The position might well have been different had the defence been in

u position to adduce expert evidence to establish that the opinion of

Mp. HcCollum was wrong, In this connection it is to be noted that at

the first trial no evidence was adduced by the defence and no application
to adjourn the hearing to obtain such evidence was made, At the second
trial, counsel for the accused had avallable in Court to them (as the
transcript of the trial discloses and as thius Court has been informed) a
lawyer from Northern Ireland, but he was not called as a witness for the

defence to rebut ilr kMcCollum's conclusions.
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In the course of their submissions to this Court, Counsel for the
applicunt advanced a number of arguments to support the contention (a)
that the warrants under which each of the accused was held in Crumlin
Road Prison were invalid and (b) that in any event the warrants vere
spent when each of the accused was arraigned before the Crown Court in
Belfast so thaf they were no longer in custody under themn. The Court
does not proposc to cxamine these subnmissions in any Qetail because it
believes that they are fundamentally flawed. All the points raised in
this Court were put to sr deCollum who, as has already been pointed out,
maintained that the warrants were perfectly valid, that each of the accused
was in custody under them when the escape took place and that none of the
varrants was spent. Once the Court of trial has accepted this witness as
an expert witness and that the law of Northorn Ireland and the effect of th
warrants was as stated by him, it is not for this Court to go behind that
evidence and to construe the warrant or the laws relating to it or the
accused's custody. Essentially these arc matters of fact for the Court
of Trial in each case, and in each case the Court of Trial has found
certein fuctg on evidence on which it was entitled to act. This court

is therefore satisfied that there are no grounds for the submigsion that

the Courts of Trial were wrong in holding that the custody of the accused
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was lawful according to the law of Northern Ireland.

The conclusion of the Wurts of Trial as to the lawfulness of the
custody of each of the accused is challenged on another ground. It is
urged that the prosecution failed to establish by proper proof the orders
made by the magistrates in each case as it had incorrectly relied on s, 7
of the Evidence Act, 1851 to prove ihecm, The prosecution, it was said,
should have established by evidence that the magistrate (or assistant
nmagistrate) who authenticated the copy documents was a "judge" and that in
the abgsence of such proof the authenticated copy was worthless.

This submission, in the opinion of this Court is based on a
imisinterpretation of section 7. This section provides jnter alia, that,
where a judge of a court which has no seal autﬁenticatcs a document
pursuant to its provisions by meana of his signature, he is required to
attach to his signature a statement in writing that the court of which he
is judge has no seal, This was done in each case in the present
proceedings. rach document put in evidence was signed and following the
signature the document bore the words:

"Signed pursuant to section 7 of the Evidence Act, 1851

by me a Resident Magistrate of
the Yetty Sessions Court for the City of Belfast and I
hercby state that the said Petty Sessions Court of which
I am a judge has no seal",

Section 7 of the Act of 1851 goes on to provide that the authenticated
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copy shall

“pe admmitted in evidence in every case in which the original
docuaent could have been received in evidence without any
proof of the scal where the seal is necessary or of the
signature, or of the truth of the statement attached thereto,
where such signature and statement are necessary, or of the
judicial character of the person appearing to have made such
giznature and statemcnt"®,

It is clear from this section that the progecution need not prove the
"judicial character® of the person who signed and authenticated each of
the documents adduced in evidence and that it was not necessary to prove
that the magistrate (or the assistant magistrate) was a judge. In the
opinion of this Court, these authenticated documents were properly
received in and acted upon by the courts of trial,

In addition to urging that the custody of the applicant was unlawful
under the law of lHorthern Ireland, it way suggested that the Courts of
Trial should have considercd, and that this Court should now consider, the
accused's custody in the light of standards which according to the law of
this jurisdiction should be applied in criminal proceedings, 1t was
claimed that, if such standurds were applied, the Court would decide that
the accused's custody was illegal,

In support of this proposition reference was made to a passage in the
judgument of the Supreme Court in In the Mg;;ep.gg The Criminal Law

(Jurisdiction) Bill, 1979 ((1977) I.R. 129),.

The Court in that case
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considered arguments against the constitutionality of the Bill urged by

counsel assigned by the court to oppose it, One of these cehtered on
the provisions of s. 1l by virtue of which letters of request could be
sent by a court in this jurisdiction to the Lord Chief Justice of Horthern
Ire}and for the purpose of obtaining the cvidence of a witness in Northern
Ireland, for a trial in this jurisdiction. In the course of his judgment
the Chief Justice (at pp 157/158) observed that the presumption based on
the Constitution that all proceedings, procedures, discretions and
adjudications would be carried out in accordance with the principles of
constitutional juctice did not apply to procedures taking place outside the
State by persons who have no obligation to uphold the Constitution; but he
added that the admissibility of any statement taken in pursuance of the
letters of request remained completely within the jurisdiction of our
courts.
It is clear that neither this passage nor any other part of the

judzwent of the Supreme Court is an authority for the argument which is
now urged on this Court. The Chief Justice was dealing with the powers
of the Courts during a trial in this jurisdiction in relation to the

evidence of a witness whose testimony had been taken in Northern Ireland.

The point now raised is an cntirely different one; namely whether in
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adjudicating on the lawfulness of an act in Northern Ireland (i.e., in
this case, the lawfulness of the accused's custody) the Courts here can

decide that the act is unlawful if it does not accord with our laws

(constitutional or otherwise). As to the rights which Irish citizens are

granted by the Constitution, the judgment of the Supreme Court makes it
clear that the right to obtain "constitutional justice" from tribunals

(judicial and non-judicial) is a right which does not extend to tribunals

established outside the jurisdiction of the state, The lawfulness of

the custody in Northern Ireland of an Irish citizen cannot therefore be

impugned by reference to a non-existent right. The conclusions of the

Supreme Court with regard to the right to constitutional justice apply
with equal force to any of the other unspecified personal rights which an
accused person may enjoy by virtue of Article 40 (3) of the Constitution
in relation to criminal proceedings in this State, As to rights
conferred by stutute, it is obvious that the laws of Northern Ireland in
relation to the trial of offences are different to the laws of this State,
It would lead to a result manifestly contrary to the intentions of the

Oireachtas if the Courts here were rcquired to find that a person vho

cucaped from a custody which under the law of Northern Ireland was

perfectly lcegal had committed no offence under the 1976 Act because the
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custody in question failed to comply with the statutory laws of this
State. As to rights granted by the common law, again the Court is of the
opinion that the 1976 Act does not require the courts to determine the
lswfulness of the custody in Horthern Ireland of an accused person by
reference to common law principles which operate in this jurisdiction,
Lest there be any misunderstanding occasioned by the views which
huve just been expressed, the Court should make it clear that the only
irregularity which idir McCollum acceptcd hzd occurred was that in the
printed form of the warrant used in euch canse a reference was made %o
Rules of Court whick had been amended and were no longer in force. Vhilst
it is not nccessary for this Court to express anry concluded view on the
point, it should be pointed out that no authority was cited to show that if
the lawfulness of a custody was being challenged in this juriszdiction such
an irregularity would render an otherwisc lawful custody illegal.
In the second trial, it was subwitted that the prosecution had

failed to establish that the accused's custody was lawful because (a) the
consent of the Director of Fublic Prosecutions of Northern Lreland was
reqguired before the accused were charged with the offences with which they
vere on trial in Northern Ireland and (b) no evideance that this consent

had been sought and obtained was given to the Court of Prial when the
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prosecution's case had concluded, During the second trial, Hr kcCollum
was questioned on this point and expressed the opinion, on which the
Court of Trial was free to act in the absence of contrary evidence, that
tne law of Northern Ireland did not require the consent of the Director
of Yublic Prosecutions to the charges preferred against the accused.,
This point therefore fails. In addition, it should be said that once
the prosecution had established that the accused were in custody under a
valid warrant it was not required in addition to adduce evidence relating
to the consent of the Director of Public Prosecutions.
The Court is of the opinion therefors that the courts of trial
correctly concluded that each of the accused was in lawful custody at the

time of his escape.

The Court rejects the submissions advanced in support of this ground

-

«hich therefore fails,
The adequagy of the Indictment

Ground 4 of the Notice of Appeal of lidchael Ryan claimed that in
relation to Count No. 7 on the indictment (the count relating to escape

from lawful custody) the Special Criminal Court had misdirected itself

in convicting the applicant; Ground 5 claimed that counts 9, 10, 11 and
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12 (all firearm offences) did not disclose any offence; and GCround 6
claimed that these Counts (as well as Count ?7) were defective as being
contrary to the provisions of s,4 of the Criminal Justice Act, 1924 and
because they failed to comply with the Indictment Rules scheduled to the
Act, Rone of the other notices of appeoal specifically challenged the
convictions on the ground of a defect in the indictments but the Court
will procezd on the assumption that all the applicants rely on the
grounds raised on behalf of klichael Ryan and wish to adopt the arguments
urged in support of them.

A specific point arising in relation to Count 7 concerns the
application of Michael Ryan only and will be dealt with later in this
Judgment. fiith regard to the claim that the counts in the indictment
relating to the firearm offences disclose no offence, and that they are
defective, 1t will assist in understanding the argument, and the Court's
conclusions on it, if reference is made to a specific count, Count 9 of

the Indictment preferred against Michael Ryan was in the following form
vstatement of Offence

Shooting with intent to prevent lawful apprehension (being an
offence speccified in the Schedule to the Criminal Law Jurisdiction
Act 1976), Contrary to Section 2 (1) of the said Act.

P icula of Offence

lijchael James Ryan on the 10th day of June 1982 at
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¢

Crumlin Road, Belfast Horthern Ireland shot at one Detective
Constable lLogan with intent to prevent his lawful apprehension™,

Each of the other firearm counts against this applicant were in a
similar form, and each of the counts in the indictments against the other
applicants were similarly drafted, that is to say, with a statement that

the accused was charged with an offence conirary to section 2 (1) of the

Act,

It was submitted that this Count did not disclose the commission of

any offence because section 2 (1) of the 1976 Act did not oreate any

offence; it merely conferred jurisdiction in respect of the offences

specified in the Schedule, The Count. it was said, should have charged

the accused with an offence in the Schedule and referred to the relevant

statute which created it.

The Court cannot agree, Seotion 2 (1) of the Act reads as follows:

“ihere a person does in Northern Ireland an act that, if done in the
State, would constitute un offence specified in the Schedule, he
shall be guilty of an offence and he shall be liable on conviction on

indictment to the penalty to which he would have been liable if he
had done the act in the State.®

Quite clearly the section created a new offence, namely, the doing
of an act in Northern Ireland that if done in the State would constitute
an offence specified in the Schedule and the indictment complied with !

Rule 4 of the Indictment Rules by stating that the offence with which the

|



—3 T3 T3 73

3

T3 T3

T3 T3

3

—3 —3 —3 T3 T3 73 773

T3

144

- 27 -

accused was charged was contrary to section 2 (1) of the 1976 Act,
It was also submitted that this Count (and others similarly drafted)
was defective in that it falled to state the particular section of the
Firearms Act which it was alleged the accused had infringed and it was

urged that this should have been done, followed by a reference to section

" 2 of the 1976 Act,

The Court considers that this submission is also based on a misreading
of the section, Section 4 of the 1924 Act requires that a statement of
the specific offence with which the accused wag charged should be contained
in the indictment. This was donc and Rule 4 (3) was complied with.

The count also contained reasonable information as to the nature of the
charge which the section also required, and the applicants in these cases
were correctly charged and given all the information that was necessary to
inform them of the case they had to meet,

As has been pointed out earlier in this judgment, there was evidence
on which the Courts of Trial could have concluded that each of the accused
was involved 3in a concerted action which involved the use of firearms to
escape from lawful custody. It follows therefore that each, whether he

actually had the firearm in his physical possession or not, could be

charged as & principal in respect of the firearm offences contained in
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the indictment. In such circumstances it was not necessary (as was

submitted on behalf of one of the accused before this Court) to charge

an accused who had not physlical possession of a weapon as an aider and

abettor; in the light of the evidence adduced at the trial each applicant
was correctly indicted.

All the applicants with the exception of blichaecl Ryan were charged
with escaping from lawful custody contrary to section 3 (1)(a) of the
Criminal Law (Jurisdiction) act, 1976. It is quite clear that that sub-
paragraph of sub-section (1) of scction 3 of the Act created an offence
und that the accused were corrcctly charged under it, A different
situation arose, however, in the case of ldichael Ryan. He was charged
with "Escape from lawful custody contrary to Section 3 (1)(b) of the
Criminal Law (Jurisdiction) aAct, 1976", At the end of the prosecution's
case, Counsc¢l for the accused specifically asked whether or not it was
proposed to amend the indictment. Counsel for the prosecution stated
that no such application was being made, but the next day sought ieave to
anend, relying on section 6 of the 1924 act. He pointed out that a
migprint huad occurred in the indictment and, as the offence was created
by section 3 (1)(a) of the Act, the accused should have been charged

under subparagraph (a) and not under subparagraph (b).  Counsel for the
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accused objectcd and t he court rcfused the applicatioﬁ to amend. It

nonetheless convicted the accused of the offence charged under this Count
(Count 7).

The submission made to this Court in relation to this paxt of the
case was first that the offence with which the accused was charged was
under subsection (1)(b), which did not create an offence; and second
that if it did create an offence (of aiding and abetting an escape from
lawful custody) the indictment was defective in that inadequate
particulars of this offence were given,

It is clear that the oflence of escaping from lawful custody in
Horthern Ireland is created by sub-parag?aph (a) of the subsection and
thzt sub-paragraph (b) created no offence. It provides; inter alia,
that a person in lawful custody in Northern Ireland charged with an
offence under the law of Northern Ireland which consists of acts which if
done in the State would constitute the aiding and abetting of one of the
offences specified in the Schedule and who escapes is guilty of an offence
undexr sub-paragraph (a).

The lules in respect of indictments contained in the First Schedule

to the Criminal Justice (Administration) Act, 1924, provide that when the

offence charged is one created by statute the indicitment should contain a
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reference to the section of the statute creating the offence, It is

3

clear, accordingly, that it was not necessary in drafting the indictment

3

in the present case to have specified in the indictment either of the

sub-paragraphsdf section 3 (1) of the Act; but in all these six cases the

3

7 draughtsman nonetheless decided to refer to a specific sub-paragraph,

-\-]

In five of them, he correctly referred to sub-paragraph (a) of Section 3

3

(1); but in the case of ilichael Ryan a typographical error occurred and

—3

as a result the indictment contained a reference to sub-paragraph 3 (1)(b).

3

" However, the accused was not in any way wmisled by this error. He was well

aware that he was charged with the offence of escaping from lawful custody

3 T3

in Northern Ireland (both the certificate of the Respondent under section

3

47 (2) of the 1939 Act and that of the Attorney General under Section 20
of the 1976 Act made this clear and in fact made no reference to either
il of the sub-paragraphs of the subsection). It was indeed expressly

o admitted on his behalf at the trial that he had escaped from custody in

Horthern Ireland, His defence was that the prosecution had not
cstablished that the custody was lawful, a defence that was not in any
way prejudiced by the error in the indictiment. On the evidence before it

the Court of Trial was entitled to hold (as it in fact held) that the

prosecution had established the lawfulness of the custody in Northern
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Ireland and to have convicted the accused of an offence under the section,

The Court of Trial would have been within its rights to have amended

the error in the indictment but in fact, as has already been pointed out,
it did not do so. Nonetheless it convicted the accused. The transcript
uakes it clear that the submission made on the accused's behalf at this
trial was not that the indiciment as unamended referred to a sub-paragraph
of the section which did not create an offence, but that it was defective
in not containing adequate particulars of the offence, The court
apparently, acted on this interpretation of the sub-paragraph but did not
accept the submission that inadequate particulars of the offence had

been given.

This Court is satisfied that, bearing in mind that on the evidence
before it the Court of Trial was fully entitled to convict the accused of
an offence under the section, that the typographical error in the indictmer
did not in any way prejudice the accused, and that the misunderstanding of
the section was contributed to by the submissions made on his behalf, this
is a proper case to exercise its powers under section 5 of the Courts of
Justice Act, 1928, This section provides that this Court may,
notwithstanding that they are of opinion that a point raised in an

appeal might be decided in favour of an appellant, dismiss the appeal if
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they considexr that no miscarriage of justice has actually occurred, This

is a power to be exerclsed only in exceptional circumstances, but it is
clear that in this case no miscarriage of justice has actually occurred
and that exceptional circumstances exist which justify the court in
dismissing this appeal in so far as it relates to the point now being

considered.

The Court rejects the submissions advanced in support of this ground

which therefore fails.

Each of the applicants before this Court had been arrested under the
provisions of s. 3O of the Offences ‘Agzainst the State Act, 1939 and was
subsequently brought before the Special Criminal Court pursuant to
subsection (4) and charged with the offences in respect of which
indictments were subsequently preferred, It was urged on behalf of the
applicant Robert Campbell that he was in unlawful custody at the time he
was brought before the court end that as the jurisdiction of the Special
Criminal Court under s. 43 (1) of the 1939 Act was to try, conviect or
acquit any person lawfully brought before it the court had no
jurisdiction to try him becasuse he was not lawfully brought before it.

The unlawrfulness of the applicant's custody arose, it was said, from the
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circumstances in which he was arrested. A similar submission was made on
behalf of the applicant bdiichael Ryan and submissions as to the illegality
of his arrest were made in support of it, CQunsel on behalf of the other
four applicants stated that they wished to adopt thes§ submissions but no
separate submissions on the illegality of their arrests were made in their
cases,

The circumstances of each arrest in the six applications were
different and each must be separately considered. But before doing so
it is important to bear in mind that what the court is now considering is
(a) a statutory power given to a member of the Garda Siochana to arrest
without warrant any person whom intey alia,he suspects of having commit?ed
an offence under any section of the fct or an offence which is a
"scheduled offence" (as defined), and {b) a statutory power to detain in
custody a person arrested under the section for up to forty-eight hours
(subsection (3) of s. 30). The suspect in custody under subsection (3)
may be charged before cither the District Court or the Special Criminal
Court.

In the cause of the applicant, Robert Campbell, the arrest was made in
Dundalk at 1.1% a.m. on the 22nd September, 1981 by Detective Garda

0! Connor, Detective O'Connor was in an unmarked police car following
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another car through the streets of Dundalk when it suddenly stopped and
a passenger (who subsequently turned out to be Robert Campbell) jumped
out of it and ran away. Detective O'Connor gave chase, He eventually
caught up with the suspect and then arrested him, saying: "I am
arresting you under section 30 of the Uffences Againsf the State Act,".
Campbell was brought to the Garda Station and was there questioned and his
custody extended pursuant to the subsection for a period of forty eight
hours, Detective V'Connor was asked during the course of his testimony
in the Court of P?rizl) why he had arrested Campbell and he inforumed the
court that he suspected that he was a member of the I.R.A., a suspicion
which under the section justified the arrest which he had made. He also
izave evidence that after he had broucht him to Dundalk Carda station he
informed him that he believed that he was a member of the I.R.a.

Since the judgment of the Special Criminal Court delivered by
Finlay, J., as he then was, on the 24th luy, 1974 (see 4, G, -v-_iicDermott
and others, unreported) the courts huve consistently held that a valid
arrest is effected under the section if the arresting garda informs the
suspect that he is beiny arrested under s. 30 of the Offences Against the
State Act and that a failure to give any further information as to the

grounds of the arrest does not invalidate it. This Court has been asked



—3 T3 "3

"""‘"g - "‘g "‘_g — "“g "“‘"g "—“"‘g “'_a; ’—-‘—g ‘_-‘g. "_“’g . "g "“;g!

™3 "3

—3

3 | 3 ‘

(3

- 35 -

to hold that McDermoit's case was wrongly decided. But in the light
of the evidence to which reference has just been made it is quite
unnecessary to consider this point, Once the applicant had been
informed by Detective O'Connor that he believed that he was a member of
the I.R.A. the applicant must have known vhy he had been arrested. If
there had been any invalidity attached to the arrest, it does not follow
that the custody under subsection (3) of section 30 was an unlawful one.
This is clear from the decision of the Supreme Court in D.P.P. -v- Raymond
Walsh (1980 I.R. 294),

That was a case of a suspect arrested under a common law power of
arrest in a public house in Dublin. At the time of the arrest he was not
told of the reason for it. He was brought to a police station and was
there informed of the reason, He was subsequently convicted of a serious
crime and appealed directly to tﬁe Supreme Court, the essential issue in
the appeal being the legality of the appellant's detention in the police
station at the time his fingerprints (which were the only evidence
connecting him with the crime with which he was convicted) were taken,

The appeal was dismissed, Giving the judgment of the majority of the

Court, the Chief Justice referred to a portion of the judgment of

NMaguire, C.J, in In re Lojehleis (1960) I.R. 93 and added:
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"It seems to me that in this excerpt from the judgment in the
O'Laighleis Case (certainly in the concluding portion thereof) the
onus was placed on the person arrested to establish that he did

not know why he was arrested, and that a clear line of distinction
was drawn between the actual arrest and the ensuing imprisonment

or detention, If such a line of distinction can be drawn where

the arrest was made pursuant to warrant, as in the 0'Laighleis Case,
I can see no reason why it should not also be drawn where the arrest
was made pursuant to the common-law. An arrest is the actual or
notional seizure of a person for the purpose of imprisonment.

In the case of a common law arrest, a suspicion of felony which is
reasonably held is the authority which justifies the arrest and

the ensuing imprisonment for the purpose I have already mentioned.
In either case a fault in the arrest, on the reasoning in the
Court's judgment in the 0'Laighleis Case ought naot to operate

so as to render the subsequent imprisonment (if otherwise
authorised) unlawful®., (pp. 305/306).

Later in his judgment the Chief Justice pointed to the fact that
the appellant had been informed of the reason for his -arrest shortly
after he had been brought to the Garda Station and concluded that this
would have, in any event, made his custody in Garda Station a valid one
(p. 308).

Applying this judgment to the facts of the present case it is clear
(a) that the onus was on the accused to show that he did not know why he
was arrested and he did not discharge that onus, and (b) Even if the
arrest was invalid the subsequent detention was lawful when he

was given information which made it clear to him why he had

been arrested. There is therefore no substance in the

argument that the applicant was in unlawful custody when
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he was brought before the Special Criminal Court and there charged.
Accordingly, there is no basils for the submission that the Special
Criminal Court had no jurisdiction to try hin,
The circumstances of the arrest of the applicant, kichael Ryan,

vere as follows, On the 10th October, 1981 Sergeant Boyle was executing,
with other members of the Garda Siochana, a search warrant of a dwelling
house owned by a man called #cConnell. Vhen carrying out the search of
the house he saw the applicant coming from an upstairs bedroom. He
recognised him and he asked his name and address. TQ this he made no
reply. Sergeant Boyle then arrested him saying; "I am arresting you
under Section 30 of the Offences Against the State Act, 1939 as I suspect
that you have committed a scheduled offence under the Act'. He was
brought to Monaghan Garda Station where he was detained in custody and
vwas subsequently brought before the Special Criminal Court and there
charged. In the course of his cross-oxamination, Sergeant Boyle explained

that the scheduled offence he suspected the Applicant had committed was

that of membership of an illegal organisation, and he added that from

previous experience and knowledge that he had of Eichael Ryan he believed

that he was a member of the Provisional L.R.A.
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o evidence was given as to what was said to the applicant whilst
he was ip custody, und it was submitted on his behnlf to this Court that
the arrest was invalid because insufficient information was given to the
applicant as to the reason for it, The Court cannot agres, The
applicant was told of the statutory power which was being invoked to
justify the arrest and was told the reason why Sergeant Boyle was invoking
it, The situtation might be different (but the Court expressly refrains
from stating any view on the point) had the applicant asked Sergeant Boyle
what was the scheduled offence Sergeant Boyle suspected him of having
committed and had Sergeant Boyle refused to tell him. But this is not
what happened. Instead, according to Sergeant Boyle's evidence the
applicant resisted arrest. Objection was taken to any further evidence
being given on this aspect of the arrest and Sergeant Boyle was not cross~
exzmined in relation to it. It is clear, therefore, that resistance to
the arrest did not take place because of the inadequacy of the information
the applicant was given for it at the time it was effected. So it seeuns
to the Court that the statutory power of arrest given by section 30 (1)
vas validly ex<rcised and it cannot be gsaid that the detention in custody

under section 30 (3) was at any time unlawful.
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In addition, of course, the principles enunciated in the Raymond
Walsh Case would apply to this case, and the onus was placed on
Michael Ryan to show that he did not know why he was arrested and he
did not discharge that onus.

A further point was taken in relation to the appeal of this
applicant. As has been pointed out, Sergeant Boyle stated that he
suspected the applicant of being a member of the Provisional I.R.A.

It was submitted that the prosecution had failed to establish by proper
evidence that this organisation was an illegal one and accordingly that
it failed to show that the arrest was a valid one under the section.

No doubt on the trial of an accused person on a charge of
membership of an illegal organisation in respect of which a supression
order under s. 19 of the 1939 Act, has been made, the prosecution will
prove the relevant statutory instrument in the ordinary way. But in
the present case, there is no charge that the accused was a member of an
illegal organisation. In so far as it is necessary in a case such as
the present to establish the validity of an accused's arrest, this is
properly done by evidence from the arresting Garda of the statutory
power under which he effected the purported arrest (if it was not

effected at common law) and the words used by him at the time of the
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arrest, If the bona fides of the arresting Garda are put in issue by
the defence, then the Court of Trial may have to consider whether it has
been established beyond a reasonable doubt that the power of arrest was
validly exercised - in the case of an s. 30 arrest, for example, whether
the arresting Garda bona fide entertained the suspicion referred to in
the section, In determining such an issue, what the Court is concerned
with is the state of mind of the arresting Garda, not the facts on which
that state of mind was forumed, Once the prosecution has established
that the suspicion referred to in the section was bona fide entertained
by the arresting Carda, it deoes not in addition have to prove by evidence
in cases such as the present, where the suspicion justifying the arrest
was that the accused was a member of an illegal organisation, that the
organisation was in fact illegal. Therefore in none of these cases was
the prosccution required to prove the statutory instrument (S.I. No, 162
of 1939) which declared the I.R.A. to be an illegal organisation or that
the Provisional I.R.A. was the organisation declared illegal by the
statutory instrument,

In the remaining four cases, no arguments were adduced to support
the view that the arrests under s, 30 (1) were invalid or the submission

that the subsequent detention under s. 30 (3) was unlawful. The
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ciprcumstances of the arrests in these cases are as follows.

The applicant, Anthony McKee, was arrested in Dundalk on the 3rd
December, 1981 by Sergeant Corrigan who at the time was in possession of
8 search warrant issued under the Firearms Acta, 1925 to 1971. In the
course of a search of the house to which it rglated he met licKee, He
arrested him, In doing so he said: "I am arresting you under section
30 of the Oféences Against the State Act, on suspicion of being a member

of the Provisional I.R.A.

The applicant, Paul Hagee, was arrested on the 6th January, 1982, in
Tralee by Detective OSergeant Callaghan. lle was in possession of a search
warrant under s. 29 of the Offences Against the State‘Act, 1939 , and he
met the applicant in the house to which it related, He there arrested
him, In doing so he said: "I am arresting you under section 30 of the
Offences Against the State Act on suspicion of being a member of the
I.R.A"

The applicant, Anthony Sloan, was arrested in Cork on the 3rd
January, 1982, by Detective Inspector Thorne. Inspector Thorne was in
possession of a search warrant and was searching the house to which it

related when he met the applicant, He arrested him, He stated:

"I am arresting you as I suspect you of being a member of an unlawful
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organisation, the IL.R.A. otherwise Oglaig na hEireann, otherwise the
Irish Republican Army". In evidence he explained that he had received
confidential information that the applicant was a member of the I1.R.A.
but that he did not at that time suspect that he was a person who had
escaped from prison in Northern Ireland.

The applicant Angelo Fusco was also arrested by Sergeant Callaghan
in Tralee, . On the 18th January 1982 Sergeant Callaghan was in possession
of a search warrant under section 29 of the Offences Against the State
Act, 1939. He entered the premises to which it related and there met

Fusco. He arrested hin, When doing so, he said: *“I am arresting you

under s, 30 of the Offences Against the State Act, 1939 on sugpicion that
you are a member of an unlawful organisation, to wit the I.R.A." It was
suggested to him in cross-examination that he was aware that the applicant
was one of those who had escaped from Crumlin Road prison and that this
was the reason for his arrest, Sergeant Callaghan maintained that this
was not o ad, that when arresting him, he was unaware that he was one of
those who had escaped from the Crumlin Road prison.

The court is satisfied that in these four cases the hona fides of the
suspicion entertained by the arresting Garda was a matter of fact to be

determined by the Court of Trial and that the Court of Trial was entitled
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to hold that in each case the suspicion deposed to was bona fide
held. The Court is also satisfied that in each case the words
used by the arresting Garda when effecting the arrest were
perfectly adequate.

The Court rejects the submissions advanced in support of
this ground which therefore fails.

The Court being satisfied that all the accused were in
lawful custody at the time they were charged in the Special
Criminal Court, findsit unnecessary to determine whether persons
not lawfully arrested but brought before the Special Criminal
Court and charged are, or can be subsequently lawfully tried
by that Court pursuant to s. 43(1) of the 1939 Act.

It follows that, each of the grounds having failed, the
applications of each of the applicants for leave to appeal are

treated as the appeals and are dismissed.
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